
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

        
       ) 
MGM GLOBAL RESORTS DEVELOPMENT,  ) 
LLC, and BLUE TARP REDEVELOPMENT,  ) 
LLC,       ) 
  Plaintiffs,    ) 
       ) 
   v.    )       Civil Action No. 19-cv-2377-RC 
       ) 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE  ) 
INTERIOR, DAVID BERNHARDT, in his official  ) 
capacity as Secretary of the Interior; Tara M.  ) 
Sweeney, in her official capacity as Assistant  ) 
Secretary–Indian Affairs, JOHN TAHSUDA, in his ) 
official capacity as Principal Deputy Assistant  ) 
Secretary–Indian Affairs,    ) 
       ) 
  Defendants.    ) 
       ) 
 

MOTION TO DISMISS 
 

 Federal Defendants the United States Department of the Interior; David Bernhardt, in his 

official capacity as Secretary of the Interior; Tara M. Sweeney, in her official capacity as 

Assistant Secretary–Indian Affairs; and John Tahsuda, in his official capacity as Principal 

Deputy Assistant Secretary–Indian Affairs, through undersigned counsel, hereby move pursuant 

to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for dismissal of all claims in the 

Complaint.  The grounds for this motion are set forth in the accompanying Memorandum of 

Points and Authorities in Support of Motion to Dismiss.1    

                                                           
1 In Administrative Procedure Act cases like this one, a court’s review of the merits of the suit is 
based on the administrative record provided by the agency.  Here, however, the administrative 
record is unnecessary to resolve the threshold legal arguments presented in this Motion. Federal 
Defendants accordingly do not submit an index of the administrative record with this dispositive 
motion under United States District Court for the District of Columbia Local Rule 7(n). See, e.g., 
Mdewakanton Sioux Indians of Minn. v. Zinke, 264 F. Supp. 3d 116, 123 n.12 (D.D.C. 2017).  
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Respectfully submitted this 7th day of October, 2019. 
 

ERIC GRANT 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
 
/s/ Rebecca M. Ross  
REBECCA M. ROSS, Trial Attorney 
Indian Resources Section 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 

      United States Department of Justice 
OF COUNSEL:    P.O. Box 7611, Ben Franklin Station 
ANDREW S. CAULUM   Washington, DC 20044 
Attorney-Advisor    Telephone:  (202) 616-3148 
Office of the Solicitor    Facsimile:  (202) 305-0275 
Division of Indian Affairs   Email: rebecca.ross@usdoj.gov 
 

Attorneys for Federal Defendants 
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INTRODUCTION 
 

 The United States Department of the Interior et al. (“Federal Defendants” or “Interior”) 

seek dismissal of the Complaint filed by MGM Resorts Global Development, LLC and Blue 

Tarp Redevelopment, LLC (“Plaintiffs”) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  Plaintiffs seek to invoke 

the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-06 (“APA”), in an attempt to indirectly 

challenge the opening of a state-sanctioned commercial gaming facility in the State of 

Connecticut (“State”), to be operated by a state-chartered joint venture formed between two 

federally recognized Indian tribes, the Mashantucket Pequot Indian Tribe (“Pequot”), and the 

Mohegan Tribe of Indians of Connecticut (“Mohegan”) (collectively, the “Tribes”).   

Plaintiffs bring four causes of action against Federal Defendants alleging that the 

approval, by operation of law, of an amendment to a gaming compact between the State and 

Mohegan, as well as the approval of an amendment to gaming procedures for Pequot, violated 

the APA and the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. §§ 2701-21 (“IGRA”).  Specifically, 

in Count I, Plaintiffs seek to recast these amendments as approval of the commercial gaming 

facility in order to argue that Interior failed to comply with inapplicable legal requirements.  

IGRA, however, does not prohibit the Tribes from pursuing such commercial facility nor impose 

any requirements on it, and Interior’s approvals do not constitute direct authorization of the 

facility under any law.  Plaintiffs then contend in Count II that Interior lacked authority to either 

deem approve, or approve, these amendments, based on the legally erroneous premise that the 

amendments were not pending before Interior at the time.  Count III mistakenly contends that 

Interior’s compliance with IGRA constitutes a violation of that statute and the APA.  Count IV 

then asserts that Interior was required to provide greater justification for, and address public 
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comments and issues irrelevant to IGRA in connection with, such approvals, even though no 

such legal requirement exists.   

As set forth below, Interior’s approvals were entirely consistent with both the APA and 

IGRA, and Plaintiffs’ contrary assertions are incorrect as a matter of law.  Each of Plaintiffs’ 

counts fails to state a claim for which relief can be granted and thus, Federal Defendants request 

that the Court dismiss this suit in its entirety pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure.   

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 
 

In 1988, Congress enacted IGRA to regulate gaming operations undertaken by Indian 

tribes on Indian lands.  IGRA’s purpose is to “provide a statutory basis for the operation of 

gaming by Indian tribes as a means of promoting tribal economic development, self-sufficiency, 

and strong tribal governments.” 25 U.S.C. § 2702(1); Citizens Exposing Truth About Casinos v. 

Kempthorne, 492 F.3d 460, 462 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (quoting Taxpayers of Mich. Against Casinos v. 

Norton, 433 F.3d 852, 865 (D.C. Cir. 2006)). 

Tribal gaming under IGRA is divided into three classes. Tribes have exclusive authority 

over “Class I” social and traditional games with prizes of minimal value. 25 U.S.C. §§ 2703(6), 

2710(a)(1).  Class II gaming, which includes bingo and certain “non-banking” card games, see 

id. § 2703(7)(A)(i), can occur if the state allows such gaming for other groups, see id. §§ 2704, 

2710(b).  Class III gaming, which includes traditional “casino” games, such as “blackjack, 

roulette, and other table games,” see Connecticut v. U.S. Dep’t of Interior, 344 F. Supp. 3d 279, 

289 (D.D.C. 2018), can occur on tribal lands only pursuant to an approved tribal-state compact. 

25 U.S.C. § 2710(d).   
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To secure a Class III gaming compact under IGRA, a tribe must first request that the state 

enter into negotiations to reach a tribal-state compact governing the conduct of gaming activities, 

and the state is required to negotiate in good faith. Id. § 2710(d)(3)(A).  If the state and tribe 

reach an agreement, the proposed compact must be submitted to the Secretary for review. Id. 

§ 2710(d)(8)(A).  The Secretary may approve or disapprove the compact, but if he takes no 

action within forty-five days the compact is, as a matter of law, “considered to have been 

approved . . . but only to the extent the compact is consistent with the provisions of [IGRA]” 

(also referred to as “deemed” approval). Id. §§ 2710(d)(3)(B), 2710(d)(8)(C).  Interior 

regulations, codified at 25 C.F.R. Part 293, set out the requirements for states and Indian tribes to 

properly submit compacts or compact amendments to Interior for the Secretary’s review. 

If the state either does not respond to the tribe’s request to negotiate a compact or does 

not respond to such request in good faith, the tribe may sue the state in federal court under 

IGRA’s remedial provisions. 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(i).  If the court finds that the state failed 

to negotiate in good faith over the compact, the court shall order that the compact be concluded 

within a sixty-day period. 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(B)(iii).  Should the state and tribe fail to 

conclude the tribal-state compact within sixty days, “the Indian tribe and the State shall each 

submit to a mediator appointed by the court a proposed compact that represents their last best 

offer for a compact.” Id. § 2710(d)(7)(B)(iv).  IGRA then requires that the mediator “select from 

the two proposed compacts the one which best comports with the terms of [IGRA] and any other 

applicable Federal law and with the findings and order of the court,” and submit the selected 

compact to the state and the tribe. Id. § 2710(d)(7)(B)(iv), (v).  If the state consents to the 

selected proposed compact, it will be treated as a tribal-state compact. Id. § 2710(d)(7)(B)(vi).  If 

the state does not consent, the mediator notifies “the Secretary and the Secretary shall prescribe, 
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in consultation with the Indian tribe, procedures” for Class III gaming activities that are 

consistent with the mediator’s selected compact. Id. § 2710(d)(7)(B)(vii).   

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 As this Court is aware, the Tribes each operate gaming facilities within the State pursuant 

to IGRA.  Mohegan engages in Class III gaming under IGRA as authorized by a gaming 

compact it has entered into with the State. ECF No. 1-1 at 74-139.  Pequot engages in Class III 

gaming under IGRA as authorized by gaming procedures issued to it by the Secretary. Id. at 10-

72.  In 1993 and 1994 respectively, Pequot and Mohegan reached agreement with the State that, 

in exchange for possessing the exclusive right to operate Class III gaming facilities, the Tribes 

would share a portion of their gaming revenue with the State.  The Tribes and State 

memorialized this agreement in a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”). See id. at 141-155 

(“Pequot MOU”); id. at 157-62 (“Mohegan MOU”).   

 On July 20, 2017, Mohegan and the State executed an amendment to its tribal-state 

gaming compact and the Mohegan MOU to confirm that the opening of a state-sanctioned 

commercial facility, operated by the Tribes’ joint venture formed under state law, would not 

violate the exclusivity arrangement between Mohegan and the State. Id. 169-91 (together, 

“Mohegan Amendments”).  Likewise, on the same date, Pequot and the State amended its MOU 

and the procedures to confirm the same understanding. Id. (together, “Pequot Amendments”).  

On August 2, 2017, the Tribes submitted their respective amendments (collectively, 

“Amendments”) to the Secretary for approval under IGRA. Id. at 167-68 (Mohegan submission); 

id. at 193-94 (Pequot submission).  On September 15, 2017, then Acting Assistant Secretary – 

Indian Affairs Michael S. Black sent letters to the Tribes and the State, stating that he was 

“returning” the amendments to the Tribes and the State “as action on [them] is premature and 
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likely unnecessary.” Id. at 218-20.  The Tribes thereafter filed suit against Interior. See 

Connecticut v. U.S. Dep’t of Interior, 363 F. Supp. 3d 45, 50 (D.D.C. 2019).   

On June 1, 2018, Interior published notice in the Federal Register that no action was 

taken on the Mohegan Amendments within forty-five days of submission and thus, “the 

Amendment[s are] considered to have been approved, but only to the extent the Amendment[s 

are] consistent with IGRA.” 83 Fed. Reg. 25,484-01 (June 1, 2018); see also ECF No. 1-1 at 249.  

Thereafter, “the parties stipulated to the dismissal of Mohegan’s claims.” Connecticut, 344 F. 

Supp. 3d at 293.  The Court thereafter dismissed Pequot’s claims, concluding “that the 

procedural requirements governing the Secretary’s approval of tribal-state compacts and compact 

amendments . . . do not govern the Secretary’s approval of secretarial procedures and procedures 

amendments.” Connecticut, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 54.   

The State and Pequot then sought leave to amend their complaint, asserting new claims. 

Id.  In response, the Court concluded in its February 15, 2019 decision, among other things, that 

Mr. Black’s 2017 Letters reflected agency inaction for judicial review purposes, id. at 59, and 

that such letters “failed to sufficiently explain [its] treatment of the proposed Pequot 

[Amendment],” id. at 63.  The Court then permitted Pequot to amend its complaint to pursue its 

claim that Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter “was ‘arbitrary and capricious on its face.’” Id. at 60. 

Thereafter, on March 15, 2019 and March 19, 2019, Assistant Secretary Sweeney 

approved the Pequot Amendments (including the Pequot MOU). ECF No. 1-1 at 257-59, 261-64.  

In explaining her decision, the Assistant Secretary noted that Interior “did not approve or 

disapprove [Pequot’s] proposed Amendments, as requested in 2017.” Id. at 261.  Assistant 

Secretary Sweeney further noted that while the Court dismissed some of Pequot’s claims, it 

allowed others to proceed. Id.  After consulting with agency legal counsel regarding this 
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development, as well as “the posture of the litigation, and the status of [Pequot’s] August 2, 2017 

submission,” the Assistant Secretary decided to review the Amendments and concluded that they 

could be approved under IGRA because they were  

narrowly tailored to affirm only that [Pequot’s] exclusive rights to operate certain 
forms of IGRA-sanctioned Class III gaming under its procedures . . . will remain 
unaffected if the Tribe and Mohegan are authorized by the State under its laws to 
operate a gaming facility located outside of the Tribe’s or Mohegan’s Indian 
lands.  

 
Id.  Notice of such approval was subsequently published in the Federal Register. 84 Fed. Reg. 

11,122 (Mar. 25, 2019).  On August 7, 2019, Plaintiffs filed the above-captioned suit, seeking 

judicial review under the APA of Interior’s approval of the Pequot Amendments, as well as the 

deemed approval of the Mohegan Amendments. ECF No. 3. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

A motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) “tests the legal 

sufficiency of a complaint.” Browning v. Clinton, 292 F.3d 235, 242 (D.C. Cir. 2002). A court 

considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion presumes the factual allegations of the complaint to be true. 

See, e.g., United States v. Philip Morris, Inc., 116 F. Supp. 2d 131, 135 (D.D.C. 2000). “To 

survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, 

to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) 

(internal quotation marks omitted); Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 561–62 (2007).  

“A claim is facially plausible when the pleaded factual content ‘allows the court to draw the 

reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.’” Anthony v. Int’l 

Ass’n of Machinists & Aerospace Workers Dist. Lodge 1, 296 F. Supp. 3d 92, 95 (D.D.C. 2017) 

(quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678).  
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The court need not accept as true inferences unsupported by facts set out in the complaint 

or legal conclusions cast as factual allegations. Warren v. Dist. of Columbia, 353 F.3d 36, 39 

(D.C. Cir. 2004); Browning, 292 F.3d at 242. “Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of 

action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing 

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555).  And in a ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, a 

court may ordinarily consider only ‘the facts alleged in the complaint, documents attached as 

exhibits or incorporated by reference in the complaint, and matters about which the Court may 

take judicial notice.’” Anthony, 296 F. Supp. 3d at 95.   

ARGUMENT 
 

I. Count I Fails Because the Approval of the Amendments was Proper and Does Not 
Constitute the Authorization of a State-Sanctioned Commercial Gaming Facility  

 
Plaintiffs’ first claim mischaracterizes the Amendments, then links those 

mischaracterizations to inapplicable legal requirements to claim that Interior violated IGRA.  Try 

as they might, Plaintiffs’ insistence that the Amendments directly authorize a state-sanctioned 

commercial gaming facility in violation of IGRA does not alter what the Amendments actually 

do, or impose additional legal requirements on Interior’s consideration of them.  Interior lawfully 

approved the Pequot Amendments, and the Mohegan Amendments were deemed approved 

through operation of law.  Plaintiffs are incorrect in asserting that any statute or regulation 

required Interior to do anything more before such approvals took effect.  

A. The Amendments Do Not “Authorize” Commercial Gaming 
 

The purpose of the Amendments is understood by all parties and this Court: the 

Amendments merely confirm that the operation of a state-sanctioned commercial gaming facility 

by a state-charted tribal joint venture does not violate the exclusivity provisions of the Tribes’ 

respective MOUs with the State. See Connecticut, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 66 (“The proposed 
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amendments do not replace the Pequot Procedures and enact new terms and conditions, but 

merely protect those terms and conditions against the creation of the Tribes’ joint venture.”).  

State law may have conditioned its final authorization of the commercial facility on Interior’s 

approval of the Amendments, but that does not transform Interior’s approval of the Amendments 

into a direct authorization of the commercial facility under IGRA.  In their own telling, Plaintiffs 

agree: they acknowledge that state law conditions approval of the commercial gaming facility on 

Interior’s approval of the Amendments; that without the Amendments, the State may be in 

breach of its exclusivity obligations to the Tribes; and that the Amendments ensure that the 

operation of a commercial casino by the Tribes’ joint venture “does not run afoul of the[] 

exclusivity provisions [in each Tribes’ respective MOUs] and thus terminate the Tribes’ 

obligations to make revenue-sharing payments to the State.” ECF No. 3 (¶¶ 44-46).  The 

Amendments’ narrow purpose is why Interior concluded it could approve Pequot’s amendment 

under IGRA:  

Similar to the Mohegan Amendments, the [Pequot] Procedures Amendments are 
narrowly tailored to affirm only that the Tribe’s exclusive rights to operate certain 
forms of IGRA-sanctioned Class III gaming under its procedures . . . will remain 
unaffected if the Tribe and Mohegan are authorized by the State under its laws to 
operate a gaming facility located outside of the Tribe’s or Mohegan’s Indian 
lands, as defined by IGRA.  
 

ECF. No. 1-1 at 261.  Interior’s approval reflects what Plaintiffs and the Court already know: the 

Amendments serve to confirm that the Tribes’ existing exclusivity arrangements with the State 

with respect to its “IGRA-sanctioned Class III gaming” are unaffected by the operation of a 

state-sanctioned commercial facility by the Tribes’ joint venture.  Interior’s approvals do not 

transform the Amendments into anything else. 
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B. Interior’s Approval of the Pequot Amendments, and Deemed Approval of 
the Mohegan Amendments, are Lawful and Provide Sufficient Explanation 

 
Based on their mischaracterization of the Amendments as authorizing a state-sanctioned 

commercial gaming facility, Plaintiffs assert that Interior’s approval of the Pequot Amendments, 

and the deemed approval of the Mohegan Amendments, constitute “end-run[s]” around IGRA 

and other requirements they believe apply. See ECF No. 3 (¶ 98).  Plaintiffs argue that, in 

connection with the Amendments, Interior was required to determine that the commercial facility 

would be located on gaming-eligible lands under IGRA, and was also required to comply with 

Interior regulations concerning the acquisition of land in trust for Indian tribes. Id. (¶¶ 97-98).2 

Plaintiffs further assert that Interior failed to provide a “reasoned explanation why the 

Amendments comply with IGRA.” Id. (¶ 100). Plaintiffs are wrong on all counts.  

That argument fails because IGRA does not apply to the commercial facility, which is 

outside the purview of IGRA.  IGRA concerns gaming on “Indian lands,” see 25 U.S.C. 

§ 2703(4), and prohibits such gaming on lands acquired in trust after October 17, 1988 (the date 

of IGRA’s enactment) unless the lands are exempt from this gaming prohibition, see id. 

§ 2719(a), or the lands qualify for one of IGRA’s enumerated exceptions, see id. § 2719(b).  

Where, as here, Indian tribes choose to engage in state-sanctioned commercial gaming outside of 

Indian lands, IGRA neither precludes such enterprise nor imposes any requirements on it, as such 

commercial facility would be “subject to all state and local gambling laws and federal laws apart 

from IGRA.” North Cty. Cmty. All. v. Salazar, 573 F.3d 738, 744 (9th Cir. 2009).  As a result, 

                                                           
2 To the extent Plaintiffs further argue that Interior lacked authority to approve the Pequot 
Amendments and deem approve the Mohegan Amendments absent a finding that the 
Amendments “enhance or support on-reservation tribal gaming,” id. (¶ 97), there is no such legal 
requirement in IGRA.  Indeed, IGRA purposely limits the bases upon which the Secretary may 
disapprove a compact or amendment thereto, 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8)(B), and imposes no such 
requirement on the Secretary in connection with procedures, id. § 2710(d)(7)(B)(vii). 
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contrary to Plaintiffs’ assertions, Interior was not required, in connection with the Amendments, 

to render a determination that the lands where the commercial facility will be located are eligible 

for gaming under IGRA, nor did Interior need to comply with regulations governing the 

acquisition of lands in trust for Indian tribes in connection with the Amendments.  There is 

nothing in the Amendments that reflect a request from the Tribes to authorize new IGRA-

sanctioned gaming anywhere, nor do the Amendments “replace” or “enact new terms and 

conditions” with respect to the Tribes’ existing IGRA-sanctioned casinos. Connecticut, 363 F.3d 

at 66.3  The statutory and regulatory provisions upon which Plaintiffs rely neither limit Interior’s 

authority to have approved the Pequot Amendments, nor prevent the deemed approval of the 

Mohegan Amendments from taking effect.  Such provisions are entirely irrelevant to Interior’s 

review of the Amendments and compliance with them is not required.  

Plaintiffs further assert that Interior failed to provide “a reasoned explanation why the 

Amendments comply with IGRA.” See ECF No. 3 (¶ 100).  With respect to the Mohegan 

Amendments, no such requirement exists.  Interior took no action within forty-five days to either 

approve or disapprove the Amendments, and thus they were deemed approved by operation of 

law to the extent they are consistent with IGRA. 25 U.S.C. §§ 2710(d)(8)(A)-(C); 25 C.F.R. 

§§ 293.10-12.  Thereafter, all Interior was required to do was publish notice of the deemed 

                                                           
3 Even if the Amendments did concern IGRA-sanctioned gaming on newly-acquired trust lands, 
which they do not, Interior’s authority to review such Amendments would still not be 
conditioned on compliance with these other statutory or regulatory provisions.  The Secretary 
may properly approve compacts or compact amendments involving gaming on to-be-acquired 
lands. See, e.g., 64 Fed. Reg. 8,111 (Feb. 18, 1999) (approval of the Nottawaseppi Huron Band 
of Potawatomi Indians – State of Michigan compact); 65 Fed. Reg. 31,189 (May 18, 2000) 
(approval of the United Auburn Indian Community – State of California compact); 65 Fed. Reg. 
62,749 (Oct. 19, 2000) (approval of the Menominee Indian Tribe of Wisconsin – State of 
Wisconsin amended compact); 79 Fed. Reg. 46,275 (Aug. 7, 2014) (approval of the Cowlitz 
Indian Tribe – State of Washington compact). 
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approval in the Federal Register, see 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8)(D), which it did, see 83 Fed. Reg. 

25,484 (June 1, 2018) (ECF No. 1-1 at 249).  Nothing more was required.   

Regarding the Pequot Amendments, Interior reasonably approved such Amendments and 

provided a sufficient basis for doing so.  The Pequot Amendments, like the Mohegan 

Amendments, are designed to protect the exclusivity arrangement between the Tribe and the 

State concerning the Tribe’s “IGRA-sanctioned Class III gaming,” ECF No. 1-1 at 261, 

notwithstanding the operation of a commercial gaming facility elsewhere in the State.  Interior’s 

role with respect to gaming extends to tribal gaming under IGRA, not state-sanctioned 

commercial gaming conducted under state or other federal laws, even if that gaming happens to 

involve Indian tribes. See, e.g., Salazar, 573 F.3d at 744.  Interior’s review, therefore, concerned 

only the Amendments’ effect on the Tribe’s IGRA-sanctioned gaming.  Because the 

Amendments, by their own terms, confirmed that IGRA-sanctioned gaming “would remain 

unaffected” by the proposed commercial facility, Interior reasonably concluded that the 

Amendments could be approved consistent with IGRA. ECF No. 1-1 at 261-62.  Such 

explanation was sufficient and neither IGRA nor any other statute or regulation required Interior 

provide anything more to support its decision.   

To the extent Plaintiffs contend that Interior either lacked the authority to take any action 

at all with respect to the Amendments because, in Plaintiffs’ view, the Amendments “authorize” 

commercial, state-sanctioned gaming outside of IGRA, see id. (¶ 96), Plaintiffs are mistaken as 

set forth above.  Moreover, with regard to the Mohegan Amendments, it is Interior’s inaction 

that resulted in a deemed approval, and such deemed approval occurred by operation of law 

under IGRA.  Interior’s subsequent publication of the deemed approval in the Federal Register, 

which is mandated by IGRA, “merely acknowledged” that the deemed approval occurred. 
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Connecticut, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 62.   Any assertion that Interior was powerless to act with 

respect to the Amendments, or that further explanation was required in connection with the 

approvals of them, is wrong as a matter of law. 

II. Count II Fails Because Interior’s Authority to Approve the Amendments is Not 
Contingent on any Resubmission by the Tribes 
 
Plaintiffs argue that after former Acting Assistant Secretary – Indian Affairs Michael 

Black issued his September 15, 2017 letters (“Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter(s)”), stating that he 

“returned” the Amendments to the Tribes, see ECF No. 1-1 at 218-19, such Amendments were 

no longer “pending before Interior” and thus Interior could neither approve the Pequot 

Amendments nor allow the Mohegan Amendments to be deemed approved under IGRA. ECF 

No. 3 (¶¶ 107-09).  Plaintiffs are incorrect as a matter of law. 

A. The Deemed Approval of the Mohegan Amendments Did Not Require Any 
Resubmission by Mohegan to Take Effect 

 
IGRA and its implementing regulations confirm that, once a compact amendment is 

properly submitted to Interior, the Secretary only has forty-five days to either approve or 

disapprove the document. 25 U.S.C. §§ 2710(d)(8)(A)-(C); 25 C.F.R. §§ 293.10-12.  If the 

Secretary takes no action within such forty-five days, then the document is “considered to have 

been approved . . . but only to the extent the compact is consistent with the provisions of 

[IGRA]” (also referred to as “deemed” approval). 25 C.F.R. § 2710(d)(3)(B).  Interior 

regulations require that, to be “properly submitted” so as to trigger the forty-five day review 

period, the submission of “a compact or amendment must include” the following: 

(a) At least one original compact or amendment executed by both the tribe and the 
State;  
 
(b) A tribal resolution . . . that certifies that the tribe has approved the compact or 
amendment in accordance with applicable tribal law;  
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(c) Certification from the Governor or other representative of the State that he or 
she is authorized under State law to enter into the compact or amendment;  
 
(d) Any other documentation requested by the Secretary that is necessary to 
determine whether to approve or disapprove the compact or amendment. 
 

25 C.F.R. § 293.8.  Here, consistent with this provision, Mohegan submitted the executed 

Amendments, ECF No. 1-1 at 167-75; a tribal resolution approving the Amendments, id. at 176-

85; and the State legislature’s joint resolution approving the Amendments following their 

execution by the Governor, id. at 186-91.  Mohegan was not required to provide anything else 

for the Amendments to have been “properly submitted” and thus ready for Interior’s review.   

Plaintiffs presume that the statement in Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter that there was 

“insufficient information upon which to make a decision,” see ECF No. 1-1 at 219, in some way 

confirms that the Mohegan Amendments were not properly submitted to Interior under 25 C.F.R. 

§ 293.8, such that Interior could not allow the Amendments to be deemed approved. ECF No. 3 

(¶ 108).  Plaintiffs are incorrect because, as set forth above, Mohegan complied with 25 C.F.R. 

§ 293.8(a)-(c)4 so as to trigger the forty-five day review period of the Mohegan Amendments.  

Moreover, Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter “does not identify the additional information necessary to 

make a ‘final’ decision, nor does it request anything of [the Tribes],” Connecticut, 363 F.3d at 

59, and thus does not constitute a request for additional necessary documentation under 25 

C.F.R. § 293.8(d) so as to forestall the triggering of the forty-five day review period mandated by 

IGRA.  The forty-five day review period thus began for the Mohegan Amendments on the day 

                                                           
4 Plaintiffs’ reliance on the August 1, 2013 letter concerning the Cheyenne Arapaho Tribes, see 
ECF No. 1-1 at 2-6, is misplaced. There, Interior concluded the forty-five day review period 
under IGRA was not triggered because no tribal approval resolution or certification from the 
state was submitted with the compact amendment, as required by 25 C.F.R. §§ 293.8(b)-(c). Id. 
at 5-6.  Here, in contrast, Mohegan complied with these regulatory requirements when it 
submitted the Amendments.   
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they were submitted (August 2, 2017); Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter reflects Interior’s determination 

that it would take no action on the Amendments, ECF No. 1-1 at 219; and the Federal Register 

publication “merely acknowledge[s] that the Mohegan [Amendments] became ‘deemed 

approved’ under the IGRA after 45 days,” Connecticut, 363 F.3d at 62, as a result.  Mohegan 

was not required to submit—or resubmit—anything else for the deemed approval to take effect. 

B. Interior’s Approval of the Pequot Amendments was not Conditioned on Any 
Resubmission by Pequot 

 
Plaintiffs argue that Pequot was required to resubmit its Amendments to Interior before 

Interior could approve them. ECF No. 3 (¶¶ 107-09).  This is incorrect, as Interior’s March 15, 

2019 letter to Pequot reflects that, after certain intervening developments in litigation involving 

Pequot, Interior reconsidered the position taken in Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter, concluded it could 

approve the Pequot Amendments, and it did so. See ECF No. 1-1 at 261-64 (approving 

procedures Amendment); id. at 257-59 (approving Pequot MOU).  Interior’s exercise of its 

inherent authority to reconsider its position was proper, lawful, and did not require any further 

action by Pequot as a prerequisite.  

This Court agreed with the United States that, in contrast to compact amendments, the 

submission of Secretarial procedures amendments does not trigger a forty-five day review period 

in which, if Interior fails to take action with respect to such procedures amendment, the 

amendment is deemed approved. Connecticut, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 61-62.  Nevertheless, with 

respect to Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter, this Court concluded that Pequot asserted a viable claim that 

Interior “failed to sufficiently explain [its] treatment of the proposed Pequot [Amendments],” id. 

at 63, signaling that, on the merits, the Court could conclude that Interior was required to do 

something more with respect to the Pequot Amendments than what Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter 
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provided.  Interior specifically addressed this litigation development when approving the 

Pequot Amendments: 

The Department did not approve or disapprove [Pequot’s] proposed Amendments, 
as requested in 2017.  The Tribe and the State subsequently filed an action against 
the Department in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia 
(“Court”), seeking mandamus relief.  On September 29, 2018, the Court 
dismissed the Tribe’s mandamus claims. On February 15, 2019, however, the 
Court granted, in part, the Tribe’s Motion to Amend Complaint.  I have consulted 
with the Office of the Solicitor regarding the Court’s February 15th Decision, the 
posture of the litigation, and the status of the Tribe’s August 2, 2017 submission. 

 
ECF No. 1-1 at 261.   
 

This language reflects that Interior reconsidered the position taken in Mr. Black’s 2017 

Letter in recognition of this Court’s order to allow Pequot to amend its complaint.  Plaintiffs’ 

belief that Pequot had to resubmit its Amendments before Interior could act on it ignores the 

long-held tenet that agencies, unless restrained specifically by statute or applicable regulation, 

have inherent authority to reconsider and even rescind prior actions. See Spanish Int’l Broad. Co. 

v. FCC, 385 F.2d 615, 621 (D.C. Cir. 1967) (“The power to reconsider is inherent in the power 

to decide.”) (quoting Albertson v. Fed. Commc’n Comm’n, 182 F.2d 397, 399 (D.C. Cir. 1950)); 

see also Belville Mining Co. v. United States, 999 F.2d 989, 997 (6th Cir. 1993) (“Even where 

there is no express reconsideration authority for an agency, however, the general rule is that an 

agency has inherent authority to reconsider its decision, provided that reconsideration occurs 

within a reasonable time after the first decision.” (citations omitted)); Dun & Bradstreet Corp. 

Found. v. U.S. Postal Serv., 946 F.2d 189, 193 (2d Cir. 1991) (“It is widely accepted that an 

agency may, on its own initiative, reconsider its interim or even its final decisions, regardless of 

whether the applicable statute and agency regulations expressly provide for such review.”). 

Interior properly exercised this inherent authority in the context of a reevaluation of 

litigation risk involving the Pequot Amendments.  In Mazaleski v. Treusdell, the D.C. Circuit 
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explained that “[w]e have many times held that an agency has the inherent power to reconsider 

and change a decision if it does so within a reasonable period of time” because “reconsideration 

is often the sole means of correcting errors of procedure or substance.” 562 F.2d 701, 720 (D.C. 

Cir. 1977) (emphasis added) (quoting Bookman v. United States, 453 F.2d 1263, 1109 (Cl. Ct. 

1972)). In Belville Mining, the Sixth Circuit explicitly recognized Interior’s inherent authority to 

“attempt[] to correct legally erroneous [earlier decisions] that, left uncorrected, would be 

vulnerable to court challenge.” 999 F.2d at 999.  Implicit in such ruling is the recognition of 

Interior’s authority to “correct” an action that is the basis of then-current litigation.  

Interior’s exercise of this inherent authority was not dependent on any resubmission by 

Pequot.  No court has conditioned the exercise of an agency’s inherent authority to reconsider its 

position on actions by outside parties.  For instance, the Supreme Court has expressly refused to 

require an agency to ask a court to remand or to hold a case in abeyance before it may reconsider 

a decision. United States v. Benmar Transp. & Leasing Corp., 444 U.S. 4, 6-7 (1979).  A court-

imposed requirement that an agency may not further act unless the original application is 

“resubmitted” would also be nonsensical; no rational successful applicant would do so if 

resubmission triggered the agency’s inherent authority to reverse its position.   

Where, as here, there is no statute or regulation that prohibits Interior’s reconsideration 

with respect to the Pequot Amendments, the only relevant constraint under applicable law is that 

reconsideration occur “within a short and reasonable period.” Mazaleski, 562 F.2d at 720 

(quoting Bookman, 453 F.2d at 1265).  Plaintiffs’ Complaint and the documents attached thereto 

demonstrate that Interior so acted.  This Court issued its ruling on the motion to amend on 

February 15, 2019. Connecticut, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 50.  One month later, Interior issued its 

letters approving the Pequot Amendments, ECF No. 1-1 at 257-59, 261-64, and on March 25, 
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2019, it published notice of such approvals in the Federal Register, id. at 255.  There is no valid 

basis to claim that Interior’s approval of the Pequot Amendments was “untimely” so as to 

preclude the agency from acting under its inherent authority.  Interior possessed the requisite 

inherent authority to reconsider the position taken in Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter and properly 

approved the Pequot Amendments in light of changed circumstances.  The exercise of this 

authority was not, as a matter of law, conditioned on any actions by Pequot and Plaintiffs have 

failed to assert a plausible claim to the contrary.   

III. Count III Fails Because Interior’s Compliance with IGRA Does Not and Cannot 
Violate the APA 
 
As with Count II, Plaintiffs contend that Mohegan failed to properly submit its 

Amendment to Interior because, they argue, Mohegan “failed to include information required by 

IGRA and its implementing regulations.” ECF No. 3 (¶ 116).  Plaintiffs assert that Mohegan’s 

submission did not include a certification from the State’s Governor, id., and this, together with 

the statement in Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter concerning “insufficient information,” reflected that the 

Amendments had not been properly submitted so as to trigger the forty-five day review period 

mandated by IGRA. Id. (¶¶ 117-18).  Plaintiffs again misapprehend the relevant requirements.  

As set forth above, Interior regulations require Indian tribes to submit, together with a 

proposed compact amendment, a tribal resolution approving the amendment under tribal law, as 

well as certification from the state confirming the Governor’s authority to have entered into the 

amendment under state law. 25 C.F.R. §§ 293.8(b)-(c).  Interior promulgated these regulations to 

clarify the compact and compact amendment submission process. See 73 Fed. Reg. 37,907 (July 

2, 2008) (“The submission process [under IGRA] for the Tribal-State compact or compact 

amendment is not clear.”).  This rulemaking followed court decisions considering Interior’s 

authority to review a compact or amendment entered into by a state official who lacked the 
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requisite authority under state law to bind the state. See, e.g., Pueblo of Santa Ana v. Kelly, 104 

F.3d 1546, 1559 (10th Cir. 1997) (“the Governor lacked the authority to bind the state to the 

compacts . . . the compacts were therefore never validly ‘entered into’ by the state, and, as a 

result, do not comply with IGRA”).  With respect to 25 C.F.R. § 293.8 specifically, Interior 

enacted the provision in response to comments that Interior’s review be conditioned on compacts 

or amendment having been “legally entered into” or “in effect” for IGRA purposes. 73 Fed. Reg. 

74,004, 74,005 (Dec. 5, 2008).  Interior explained that the rule “requires documentation from 

both the tribe and the State certifying that their respective representatives were authorized to 

execute the proposed compact or amendment.” Id.  

Here, as Plaintiffs’ own exhibits demonstrate, Mohegan provided all necessary 

documentation to comply with 25 C.F.R. § 293.8. See ECF No. 1-1 at 167-175 (executed 

Amendments); id. at 176-85 (tribal resolution), id. at 186-91 (State legislature joint resolution 

approving the Amendments executed by the Governor).5  The State’s legislation approving the 

Amendments provides the requisite certification required by 25 C.F.R. § 293.8(c) to confirm that 

the Governor validly executed the Amendments under state law.  A separate letter from the 

Governor restating what the joint resolution already confirms would be superfluous and is thus 

unnecessary to satisfy this requirement.  Mohegan’s Amendments were properly submitted to 

Interior on August 2, 2017, and the forty-five day review period mandated by IGRA thus 

began on that date.     

And when, as here, Interior did not take any action with respect to the Mohegan 

Amendments within forty-five days, the Amendments were deemed approved under IGRA. 

                                                           
5 As noted above, the facts here bear no similarities to those concerning the submission by the 
Cheyenne Arapaho Tribes, where that submission, unlike Mohegan’s, lacked both a tribal 
resolution and confirmation from the state legislature. See ECF No. 1-1 at 5-6. 
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Connecticut, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 62.  When this occurs, IGRA mandates that Interior publish 

notice of such deemed approval in the Federal Register. 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8)(D).  Interior 

complied with this mandate. See 83 Fed. Reg. at 25,484 (ECF No. 1-1 at 249).  Interior’s 

compliance with IGRA’s statutory mandate to publish notice of such deemed approval cannot 

also constitute a violation of either IGRA or the APA.  Count III must be rejected.  

IV. Count IV Fails Because Interior Provided the Requisite Rationale 
 
Plaintiffs assert that Interior’s approval of the Pequot Amendments, and the deemed 

approval of the Mohegan Amendments, reflect a change in agency position requiring additional 

justification; that Interior failed to consider Plaintiffs’ comments; and that it also failed to 

evaluate a host of other issues Plaintiffs contend should have been addressed. ECF No. 3 

(¶¶ 128-40).6  As set forth below, Interior’s approval of the Pequot Amendments, and the 

deemed approval of the Mohegan Amendments, do not constitute changes in Interior’s policy 

position under Fed. Commc’n Comm’n v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 556 U.S. 502, 514 (2009) 

(“Fox”), but even if they did, Interior provided the requisite rationale.  Additionally, Interior’s 

review is an informal adjudication and no statute or regulation requires the consideration of 

                                                           
6 To the extent Plaintiffs assert a reliance interest on Interior’s inaction with respect to the 
Amendments, see, e.g., ECF No. 3 at 3 (citing Encino Motorcars, LLC v. Navarro, 136 S. Ct. 
2117, 2125 (2016)), and such argument has not already been waived, no such reasonable reliance 
can be plausibly claimed.  In a recent ruling, the D.C. Circuit distinguished Encino Motorcars, 
rejecting the notion that cognizable reliance interests could have been engendered by the FCC’s 
net neutrality rules. The rules had been in effect only two years before the agency proposed to 
rescind them, and since the FCC had in the interim faced “persistent legal challenges” any 
“reliance on the [rules] would not have been reasonable unless tempered by substantial concerns 
for legal or political jeopardy.” Mozilla Corp. v. Fed. Commc’n Comm’n, 2019 WL 4777860, at 
*42 (D.C. Cir. Oct. 1, 2019). And even Plaintiffs’ contemporary comments to Interior reflected 
the view that, following Mr. Black’s 2017 Letters, Interior could still approve or disapprove the 
Amendments. See ECF No. 1-1 at 223.  Thus, Plaintiffs’ own comments acknowledge that 
Interior did not have a fixed position upon which it could reasonably rely. 
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public comments in connection with gaming compacts or Secretarial procedures; nor does any 

statute or regulation require Interior to have considered the issues Plaintiffs identify.  

A. Interior’s Approval of the Amendments Does Not Constitute an Agency 
Change Requiring Additional Justification under Fox 
 

Relying on Fox, Plaintiffs contend that the approval of the Amendments constitutes a 

change in agency position requiring additional justification. ECF No. 3 (¶¶ 126, 136).  The 

Supreme Court in Fox evaluated when, under the APA, an “agency action representing a policy 

change must be justified by reasons more substantial than those required to adopt a policy in the 

first instance.” 556 U.S. at 514.  The Court rejected the argument that “all agency change [is] 

subjected to more searching review,” id., noting that the heightened standard is required, for 

example, when an agency’s new policy “rests upon factual findings that contradict those which 

underlay its prior policy; or when its prior policy has engendered serious reliance interests that 

must be taken into account,” id. at 515.  Thus, it is only changes in official agency policy—not 

agency inaction—that are subject to this heightened standard. Id. at 514-16 (clarifying that an 

agency must sometimes explain a change in official policy); id. at 536 (Kennedy, J. concurring); 

see also Ark Initiative v. Tidwell, 816 F.3d 119, 127-28 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (“no elevated burden of 

justification applies . . . because [agency] made no new factual findings contradictory to those 

supporting” the prior policy); Sierra Club v. Bureau of Land Mgmt., 786 F.3d 1219, 1226 (9th 

Cir. 2015) (agency change of “unofficial position” based on agency’s “evolving analysis was not 

a change in a published regulation or official policy” under Fox).   

Neither Fox, nor cases that subsequently applied it, have extended this heightened 

justification rule to agency inaction, such as the deemed approval of the Mohegan Amendments, 

nor has it been applied to an agency’s move from inaction to action in circumstances akin to 

Interior’s approval of the Pequot Amendments.  Fox itself distinguished between an agency’s 
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formal rescinding of a prior determination, which might warrant an explanation, from when the 

agency did not act “in the first instance.” 556 U.S. at 514-15.  The cases applying Fox instead 

involve the sufficiency of an agency’s explanation for a change from existing official policy to a 

new official policy, and not in circumstances involving agency movement from inaction to 

something else. See, e.g., United Steel v. Mine Safety & Health Admin., 925 F.3d 1279, 1284 

(D.C. Cir. 2019) (a shift from requiring that mine safety examinations always occur before work 

begins to allowing inspections while miners are working was a change in official policy).7  In 

contrast, a communication reflecting a “‘decision’ not to act” reflects “agency inaction . . . as 

opposed to a plan for affirmative steps,” and thus does not require the heightened justification 

that might be warranted “in ‘change in policy’ cases.” Mingo Logan Coal Co. Inc. v. U.S. Envtl. 

Prot. Agency, 70 F. Supp. 3d 151, 167-68 (D.D.C. 2014), aff'd, 829 F.3d 710 (D.C. Cir. 2016).  

Simply stated, Fox is inapplicable to this case. 

B. The Deemed Approval of the Mohegan Amendments Requires No Further 
Justification 

 
With respect to the Mohegan Amendments specifically, Mr. Black’s 2017 Letters do not 

establish any official “policy” that was subsequently altered by the deemed approval of the 

Mohegan Amendments, nor does the deemed approval reflect any contrast between any prior and 

                                                           
7 See also Organized Village of Kake v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 795 F.3d 956, 966-67 (9th Cir. 
2015) (applying Fox to the Forest Service’s reversal of a formal position on whether the Tongass 
National Forest is exempt from the “Roadless Rule”); Humane Soc’y of the U.S. v. Locke, 626 
F.3d 1040, 1048-50 (9th Cir. 2010) (applying Fox to the decision of the National Marine 
Fisheries Service (“NMFS”) to authorize the killing of California sea lions, where it had 
previously specifically concluded that sea lions were not having a significant negative impact on 
salmonid populations in environmental assessments prepared for numerous fisheries 
management plans); Modesto Irrigation Dist. v. Gutierrez, 619 F.3d 1024, 1033-34 (9th Cir. 
2010) (applying Fox to the NMFS’s reversal of position in official policy on whether steelhead 
and rainbow trout are a single species or rather two distinct species under the Endangered 
Species Act). 

Case 1:19-cv-02377-RC   Document 16   Filed 10/07/19   Page 25 of 33



22 
 

subsequent factual findings, much less any contradiction of one or more factual findings. See 

Organic Trade Ass’n v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., No. 17-cv-1875, 2019 WL 3803085, at *4 (D.D.C. 

Aug. 13, 2019) (distinguishing between factual findings and “legal arguments and conclusions 

related to statutory interpretation”).  Once the Mohegan Amendments were properly submitted to 

Interior, IGRA mandated that Interior either approve or disapprove the Amendments within 

forty-five days. 25 U.S.C. §§ 2710(d)(8)(A)-(C).  Notwithstanding the assertion in Mr. Black’s 

2017 letter that he was “returning” the Mohegan Amendments, the legally relevant aspect of Mr. 

Black’s letter is its confirmation that Interior would not act within the requisite forty-five day 

period to either approve or disapprove the Amendments. See ECF No. 1-1 at 219.  This Court 

confirmed as much when construing Mr. Black’s 2017 Letters purporting to “return” the 

Amendments as a form of agency inaction for judicial review purposes. Connecticut, 363 F. 

Supp. 3d at 58-59.   

When Interior took no action within forty-five days, the Mohegan Amendments were 

“considered to have been approved . . . but only to the extent the [Amendments are] consistent 

with” IGRA. Id. 2710(d)(8)(C).  Interior acknowledged this outcome and complied with IGRA’s 

mandate that it publish notice of such “deemed approval” in the Federal Register. See id. 

2710(d)(8)(D); 83 Fed. Reg. at 25,484 (ECF No. 1-1 at 249).  Interior was fully authorized to 

publish notice of the deemed approval of the Mohegan Amendments in the Federal Register as 

IGRA requires. 

 Moreover, the deemed approval notification reflected in the Federal Register reflects 

Interior’s consistent position that it took no action on the Mohegan Amendments.  As this Court 

has stated, such publication is not “decisive,” as it instead “merely acknowledged” that the 

agency’s inaction on the Mohegan Amendments resulted in their deemed approval under IGRA. 

Case 1:19-cv-02377-RC   Document 16   Filed 10/07/19   Page 26 of 33



23 
 

Connecticut, 363 F.3d at 62.  Agency inaction, followed by the publication of a Federal Register 

notice acknowledging the legal consequences resulting from such inaction, does not constitute 

any change in Interior’s position requiring something more under Fox. See, e.g., 556 U.S. at 514-

15 (distinguishing between agency inaction and agency rescission of a prior policy, and not 

requiring the same justification for the former as is required for the latter).  Fox is thus entirely 

irrelevant to the analysis here. 

Even if the deemed approval of the Mohegan Amendments constituted a change in 

official agency policy under Fox, Interior provided all the justification required by IGRA and the 

APA.  The Federal Register notice for the Mohegan Amendments is materially identical to the 

deemed approval notices Interior has published for several decades, as reflected in Plaintiffs’ 

comments to the agency. See ECF No. 1-1 at 243-47.  As this Court has noted, “[t]ribal-state 

compacts result from negotiations between a tribe and a state; they thus simply require the 

Secretary’s sign-off to the extent they are consistent with IGRA.” Connecticut, 363 F.3d at 62 

n.14.  That “sign-off” was provided, using language consistent with prior deemed approval 

notices, confirming that the Mohegan Amendments were deemed approved by operation of law, 

and no statute or regulation required more.  Plaintiffs’ argument that Interior was required to do 

something more with respect to the Mohegan Amendments has no basis in law or regulation and 

must be rejected. 

C. Interior’s Approval of the Pequot Amendments Requires No Further 
Justification 

 
Even if Interior’s movement from inaction on the Pequot Amendments to approval could 

be fairly characterized as a shift in position, it does not constitute an official change in agency 

policy requiring heightened justification under Fox. At best it reflects Interior’s “evolving 

analysis” of the matter, which by definition, is not “agency change” under Fox. See Sierra Club, 
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786 F.3d at 1226 (a change in view as to whether consultation was required under the 

Endangered Species Act was “evolving analysis” rather than a change in official policy).  As set 

forth above, after taking no action on the Pequot Amendments, see Connecticut, 363 F.3d at 59, 

Interior sufficiently explained its basis for approving the Pequot Amendments in its March 15, 

2019 letter. See ECF No. 1-1 at 261.  Because the Pequot Amendments were “narrowly tailored” 

to confirm that Pequot’s “IGRA-sanctioned Class III gaming” would “remain unaffected” by the 

operation of a state-sanctioned commercial gaming facility by the Tribes’ joint venture, Interior 

concluded that the Amendments could be approved under IGRA. Id.   

Such approval was not contingent on Pequot’s resubmission of their Amendments, 

because, as explained above, Interior possessed the requisite authority to reconsider Mr. Black’s 

refusal to take any action on the Amendments, and the exercise of this authority was not 

conditioned on any action by Pequot.  Interior’s reconsideration was justified because, as 

explained in the March 15, 2019 letter, after Interior “did not approve or disapprove the [Pequot 

Amendments],” Pequot brought suit against Interior and “the Court granted, in part, the Tribe’s 

Motion to Amend Complaint.” Id. at 261.  The Court concluded that Pequot had asserted a viable 

claim that Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter “failed to sufficiently explain [its] treatment of the proposed 

Pequot [Amendment],” Connecticut, 363 F.3d at 63.  This development signaled to Interior that, 

on the merits, the Court could conclude that Interior was required to do something more with 

respect to the Pequot Amendment than what Mr. Black’s 2017 Letter provided.  After 

consultation with agency counsel regarding this litigation development, Assistant Secretary 

Sweeney reviewed and approved the Pequot Amendments. ECF No. 1-1 at 261-64.   

It is well-established that an agency is allowed to change its position based upon its 

updated and revised understanding of the law—including an understanding gained through an 
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evaluation of litigation risk in an ongoing proceeding. See Fox, 556 U.S. at 538 (Kennedy, J., 

concurring in part); Ad Hoc Shrimp Trade Action Comm. v. United States, 596 F.3d 1365, 1372 

(Fed. Cir. 2010) (change in position due to agency’s “better reading” of statute upheld); Nw, 

Ecosystem All. v. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Serv., 475 F.3d 1136, 1145 (9th Cir. 2007) (an agency 

“may change its mind after internal deliberation”); Standing Rock Sioux Tribe v. U.S. Army 

Corps of Eng’rs, 255 F. Supp. 3d 101, 141-42 (D.D.C. 2017).   

Agency shifts based on changes in the legal landscape, including litigation developments 

in a pending matter, do not constitute official changes of agency policy under Fox.  Notably in 

that case, the Supreme Court upheld an agency’s change in position because of the agency’s 

ongoing reading of Supreme Court precedent. 556 U.S. at 517-18, 538.  The Court upheld the 

shift even though the reasons announced for the change were “not so precise, detailed, or 

elaborate as to be a model for agency explanation.” Id. at 538 (Kennedy, J., concurring in part). 

This is because an agency’s interpretation of its authority “‘is not instantly carved in stone. On 

the contrary, the agency . . . must consider varying interpretations and the wisdom of its policy 

on a continuing basis,’ for example, in response to changed factual circumstances, or a change in 

administrations[.]” Nat’l Cable & Telecomm. Ass’n v. Brand X Internet Servs., 545 U.S. 967, 981 

(2005) (quoting Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 863-64 

(1984)) (internal citation omitted).   

Even if Interior’s approval was an “agency change” under Fox, Interior’s reference in the 

March 15, 2019 letter to legal developments and associated risk is sufficient under the Fox 

standard.  In Standing Rock Sioux Tribe, a sister court sustained the Army Corps of Engineers’ 

determination to grant an easement for a pipeline consistent with Fox, even though it had 

previously specifically decided not to do so on the same administrative record. 255 F. Supp. 3d 
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at 141.  The court said that the change was not based on different factual findings, but rather was 

due to a reinterpretation of legal requirements, and thus the Corps “need only have shown good 

reasons for its new policy.” Id. at 142.  The Corps satisfied this standard simply by explaining 

that all legal requirements had been met to grant the easement. Id. at 142-43.  It was not 

mandated to specifically explain its litigation risk reasoning or to say anything else.  

That is because an agency’s discussion of litigation developments and consideration of 

associated risk does not need to be exhaustive to be sufficient under the APA. See, e.g., Modesto 

Irrigation Dist., 619 F.3d at 1035 (even if explanation “leaves several unanswered questions, the 

law does not require the explanation to be exhaustive”).  Courts applying Fox have not 

suggested, much less imposed, such a requirement.   In APA cases like this one, a court’s 

obligation to “uphold a decision of less than ideal clarity if the agency’s path may be reasonably 

discerned” applies to agency decisions effectuating a change in position just as it applies to 

agency decisions that do not do so. Id. (quoting Fox, 556 U.S. at 513-14).   

The same result should occur here.  The March 15, 2019 letter reflects Interior’s 

evaluation of the Pequot Amendments, how they were “narrowly tailored” to not affect Pequot’s 

“IGRA-sanctioned Class III gaming,” and that the Pequot Amendments do not violate IGRA. 

ECF No. 1-1 at 261.  This review and approval occurred, as stated in the letter, following the 

Court’s order allowing Pequot to amend its complaint in part. Id.  Interior’s approval reflects its 

examination of litigation posture and risk, which satisfies any requirement that Interior explain 

the basis for its approval of the Pequot Amendments.  Thus, even if Fox applied here, Interior’s 

basis for reconsidering its position and approving the Pequot Amendments is reasonable and 

adequate under the APA.  Nothing more is required. 

 

Case 1:19-cv-02377-RC   Document 16   Filed 10/07/19   Page 30 of 33



27 
 

D. Interior Was Not Required to Respond to Public Comments or Evaluate 
Issues Plaintiffs Believe Should Have Been Considered 

 
Plaintiffs assert, based on their mischaracterizations of the Amendments and their 

misunderstanding of applicable legal requirements, that Interior was required to respond to 

Plaintiffs’ comments in connection with the approval of the Amendments, ECF No. 3 (¶ 131); 

evaluate whether the Amendments are “consistent with . . . Interior’s trust obligations,” id. 

(¶ 132); and consider the “propriety” of the Amendments and the “unique” circumstances 

surrounding their execution, id. (¶¶ 134-35).  Plaintiffs are incorrect. 

Interior’s review of compact amendments or procedures amendments are informal 

adjudications.  Accordingly, the only applicable public participation requirements are those to 

which Interior specifically committed to adhere to within applicable regulations. See Vermont 

Yankee Nuclear Power Corp. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, 435 U.S. 519, 524 (1978) (“Agencies are 

free to grant additional procedural rights in the exercise of their discretion, but reviewing courts 

are generally not free to impose them if the agencies have not chosen to grant them”); Pension 

Benefit Guar. Corp. v. LTV Corp., 496 U.S. 633, 653, 655 (1990) (“[T]he APA establishes the 

maximum procedural requirements a reviewing court may impose on agencies.”); Butte Cty., 

Cal. v. Chaudhuri, 887 F.3d 501, 505 (D.C. Cir. 2018) (“courts generally cannot compel 

agencies to do more than the [APA] demands”).  No regulation (or statute) imposes any 

obligation on Interior to acknowledge, much less respond to, Plaintiffs’ comments.  And no such 

obligation arises even if Interior may have “requested additional copies of these comments,” 

ECF No. 3 (¶ 56), because there was no obligation to formally respond to them at all.   

Plaintiffs assert that Interior should have evaluated whether the Amendments are 

“consistent with . . .  Interior’s trust obligations.” Id. (¶ 132).  While Interior may disapprove a 

compact if it violates “the trust obligations of the United States to Indians,” 25 U.S.C. 
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§ 2710(d)(8)(B), that does not mean IGRA mandates that Interior affirmatively confirm, with 

each approval or deemed approval, that a compact or procedures are “consistent with . . . 

Interior’s trust obligations” as Plaintiffs contend.  Plaintiffs point to no statutory or regulatory 

requirement that Interior engage in such analysis, and none exists with respect to either the 

Mohegan Amendments or the Pequot Amendments. 

Plaintiffs assert that Interior failed to consider the “propriety” of the Amendments, 

because in their view the Amendments, themselves, “facilitate a state statute” they dislike. Id. 

(¶ 134).  Plaintiffs further assert Interior was required to consider the “unique” circumstances 

surrounding the state law that “cause the Amendments to comply with IGRA.” Id. (¶ 135).  

Simply put, Plaintiffs’ dissatisfaction with a state law potentially authorizing a commercial 

gaming facility operated by the Tribes’ joint venture does not create additional requirements on 

Interior.  This is especially true for the Mohegan Amendments, which were deemed approved by 

operation of law and required no explanation at all from Interior.  As for the Pequot 

Amendments, Interior properly considered the Amendments’ effect on Pequot’s “IGRA-

sanctioned Class III gaming,” and after concluding that such gaming would “remain unaffected” 

if the commercial facility was approved under state law, the Amendments were approved under 

IGRA. ECF No. 1-1 at 261-64.  No statute or regulation obligated Interior to delve into policy 

considerations that might arise under state law.  Interior provided a sufficient rationale with 

respect to both the Mohegan Amendments and the Pequot Amendments and Plaintiffs have 

failed to state a plausible claim alleging otherwise. 
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CONCLUSION 
 

All of Plaintiffs’ claims seek to impose inapplicable legal requirements on Interior in 

connection with the approval of the Amendments.  Such effort fails to state any plausible claim 

upon which relief can be granted.  Thus, for the foregoing reasons, the United States respectfully 

requests that the Court dismiss all of the claims in this case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 
Respectfully submitted this 7th day of October, 2019. 
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